
Castle Howard Reformatory School Brass Band ï 
musical education and social reform for wayward boys  

 
Gavin Holman, 28 March 2021 
 

 
The Castle Howard Farm School Band, c. 1920 

 
Castle Howard is the ancestral home of the Carlisle branch of the Howard family for 
over 300 years. A stately home, near Malton, it is a much-visited tourist attraction 
these days, its ownership having been given over to a family company after it was 
opened to the public in the 1950ôs. In the mid -1850ôs the 7th Earl of Carlisle, George 
Howard, was instrumental in establish ing the Reformatory School on his lands, near 
the village of Welburn , where many of his estate workers lived. 
 

 
 
 
 



THE SCHOOL  
 
The Castle Howard Reformatory School was originally proposed in 1855, when two 
men from Hull, the townôs Recorder, Samuel Warren, and a magistrate, Thomas 
Travis, arranged a meeting in the Town Hall. A committee was formed, with the 
president being George Howard, the Earl of Carlisle , and the ñSociety for the 
Reformation of Juvenile Offenders for the East and North Ridings of the County of 
York and the Town and County of Kingston upon Hullò was formed. Money was 
raised, and Howard granted the use of some land near to the village of Welburn, 
adjacent to his family seat at Castle Howard. The School opened on 2nd May 1856, 
with Ishmael Fish being its first superintendent.  
 
The home housed young boys who had fallen foul of the law or who were in need of 
special care due to family problems.  There were secure detention facilities for 
serious offenders, whilst others had an opportunity to learn various worthwhile 
trades. 
 

 
 
The boys who were resident at the school were given work on farmland, both that of 
the Reformatory and local farmers, and were also trained in tailoring, shoemaking 
and basket making and, in later years, motor mechanics. A band was formed, to 
instruct some of the boys in music and the discipline of marching and performing 
together. A gymnasium was well used, with the boys exercising regularly and some of 
them putting on gymnastic displays at various events. Sports were also undertaken, 
with football and cricket matches played against local clubs.  
 
After being taken over by the local authorities in 1925, it was renamed Castle Howard 
Farm School. I t was later converted to an Approved School in 1933, when a new Act 
of Parliament replaced the old Reformatories and Industrial Schools , but the number 
of boys housed, and the education and training provided, remained much the same. 



It became the Castle Howard Regional Community Home in 1974, eventually closing 
in 1987. The site was redeveloped in 1989 with some of the old Reformatory 
buildings form ing the core of what is now Crambeck Village. 
 

 
 
A description of the Reformatory School, from July 1861, mentions the existence of a 
drum and fife band : 
 

ñThe building is not a very large one, it is remarkably clean and has a very nice 
appearance. The left wing consists of a schoolroom on the ground floor, and a 
bedroom containing fifteen beds, upstairs. The bedsteads are of iron, and are 
supplied with the necessary summer covering. On the ground floor of the right 
wing is a washhouse and sculleries, and sick rooms; while upstairs there is 
sleeping accommodation for thirty -two boys. The Reformatory, at present, 
contains forty -seven boys, who are divided into five classes. The lads look 
remarkably happy and contented. When the boy first enters the place, he is sent 
out to work in the fields, and afterwards he is placed to learn either the tailoring 
or the shoe-making business, for which competent men are retained to instruct 
him if he shows a capacity for either of those trades. The ages of the boys are 
between 11 and 17, and they are in for various periods, namely, 5, 4, 3, while there 
is one lad who is only in for two years. Their behaviour is described as very good. 
The following is the system carried out: On Sunday, after breakfast, they have 
prayers from eight to nine. At half -past nine they go to church; on their return 
they have dinner, and after this a scripture lesson is read, then recreation, and at 
five o'clock supper. Then again to church, and on their return, bed. At six o'clock 
on the week-day mornings the boys rise, and from this time until eight they are in 
the schoolroom, where they are taught reading, spelling, and dictation, 
arithmetic, geography, the scriptures, and church catechism. The first two classes 
are also taught a little English history; from eight to nine they have prayers and 
breakfast; from nine to twelve they either work in the fields or at their trades; 
from twelve to one dinner; one to five, work again; five to six drill and play; six to 
seven, supper and play; seven to half past eight, school again. At half-past eight 
they have prayers, and then to bed. The following is the diet supplied to them 
during the week: breakfast, nine ounces of bread and a pint of coffee, with treacle; 
on Sunday, they have for dinner, half a pound Yorkshire pudding, three ounces of 
meat, and four and a half ounces of bread; Monday, a pint of soup and nine 
ounces of bread. When potatoes are plentiful they have them in lieu of bread. 
Tuesday and Friday, two ounces of bread and three ounces of meat; Wednesday, 



nine ounces of bread and two ounces of treacle; Thursday, one pound of suet 
dumpling and potatoes or bread; and on Saturday, nine ounces of bread and two 
ounces of cheese. Each lad, on rising in the morning, makes his own bed, and 
turns it down to air, and during the day it is put right by the schoolroom boy. The 
boys are described as being very healthy and free from all sickness. The ground 
belonging to the reformatory consists of about 27 acres, and is dug over entirely 
by hand by the boys. The lads also scour the bedrooms and kitchens in turn. The 
institution supplies them with two suits of corduroy per year, one for Sunday's 
and the other for week-days, and the only, mark by which the boys can be 
recognized is the buttons on their clothes, on which are the words ñCastle Howard 
Reformatory." They are also supplied with the necessary shirts and stockings. 
There have only been three boys run away from the institution since Christmas, 
all three of whom were brought back within a day or two, and the punishment for 
this offence is confinement and whipping. There is a drum and fife band, the 
members of which are taught by Mr. Prest, the bandmaster of the Third York 
Rifles. On leaving the reformatory at the expiration of their term the boys are 
placed to any business they wish to learn. If they do not desire to be any trade 
they are allowed to stay in the institution until they can get a suitable situation. ò 

 
The boys at the school, who were sent there for a range of offences, many of which we 
would regard as minor these days. One example, from April 1864  is that of Richard 
Pulman: 
 

ñStealing beef - Richard Pulman, several times remanded on this charge, was 
again brought up and committed to prison for 11 days, with hard labour,  during 
which time he would receive 12 strokes, and afterwards to be sent to Castle 
Howard Reformatory  for five years.ò 

 
Occasionally, however, there were problems, 
boys absconded only to be caught and returned. 
One time a boy set fire to some of the School 
farmôs hay ricks. In April 1864 - not related to 
the arrival of Richard Pulman  ï there was a 
serious ómutinyô at the School: 
 

ñAn outbreak of a serious nature occurred at 
the Castle Howard Reformatory, about six 
o'olock on Sunday evening. Some ill -feeling 
appears to have been engendered among the 
inmates against the labour master, who is 
stated to have whipped some of the lads. It 
would seem a favourable opportunity had been 
waited for revenge, and on Sunday, the 
Superintendent Rev. Ishmael Fish, (who 
possesses the most complete authority), was 
absent, and did not return to the school until 
evening. In the morning the  inmates were all 
marched to Welburn Church as usual, and no 
signs of disaffection were discovered. At the 
time stated, however, the officers of the 
Reformatory wore suddenly attacked by a band of from 20 to 30 inmates, who  
were armed with pokers, tongs, rollers, etc. The doors were broken open. A 
desperate fight was kept up for some time,  and eventually nine of the inmates 
succeeded in making their escape. More than one half of those concerned in the 



riot, however, repented early, and did not leave the place; but a regular hue and 
cry was raised after those who had absconded, and, as they had all set off in the 
direction of the  Castle Howard Woods, almost all the inhabitants of Wel burn 
village joined in the pursuit. The result was that by eight o'clock six of the 
runaways were retaken. A messenger was dispatched to Malton for the aid of 
poli ce, and Superintendent Walmsley, with  constables, at once set off to the 
Reformatory , and on the way met and captured one of the lads. Before midnight 
all, save a lad named, Heaton, were recaptured, and six of the ringleaders, named 
Arnold,  Hil l, Davis, Walker, Pollard, and another, were placed in custody at the 
Malton Pol ice station. Two others, West and Gillson, were confined in the cells of 
the Reformatory.  The only person seriously injured is the schoolmaster, who was 
attacked with fi re-irons, which, it appears, had been previously made red hot. By 
seizing them to defend himself he was much burnt about the hands and arms.ò 

 
The boys, however, were generally well behaved and the education and training they 
received set them up for adult careers ï sometimes in the mil itary as soldiers and/or 
bandsmen, or otherwise as skilled labourers and tradesmen.  
 

 
View of part of the Reformatory School  

 
THE BAND  
 
Prior to the formation of the Reformatory School Band, there was a brass band in the 
village of Welburn for a few years. Known as Welburn Brass Band, it was active in 
1857 through to 1860. Its conductor was Mr Prest in 1858. The band was strongly 
linked to the nearby Castle Howard estate, and it was also known as the Earl of 
Carlisle's Brass Band. 
 
The Reformatory drum and fife band was still i n existence in 1887, taking part in the 
Malton Horse Procession, and being complimented on its excellent playing and 
general appearance. It is not known when the brass band was established, but it was 
clearly very effective and well-formed in 1888, and it could well have co-existed with 



the drum and fife band for a period.  The band boys were "always immaculately 
dressed in military style uniforms, their instruments polished to perfection".  
 

 
The Band in a local Sunday School procession ï possibly Malton?  

 
The known bandmasters of the brass band are: 
 

¶ P.J. Richardson in 1889-1894 

¶ T. Hudale/Huddle in 1899  

¶ G.W. (Paddy) Berfert, formerly of the 10 th Royal Hussars, from 1900 to 1905 

¶ W.R. McManus in 1906 

¶ Walter Wyndham Sheppard, around 1914, who had previously had a military 
career in the 1st Life Guards, musically educated at Kneller Hall, and was 
bandmaster to the Frontier Force in Nigeria for six years. 

 

 
Walter Sheppar d and his wife, Jane, c. 1894 



 
The Band, c. 1915. Bandmaster Walter Sheppard in the bow ler hat.  

 
Some of the known performances by the band: 
 

¶ Sunday 21 October 1888 ï the Castle Howard Reformatory Band played a 
variety of sacred selections at the Welburn annual services, preached by Rev. 
R.G. Fish and Rev. J. Gabb. 

¶ Saturday 2 August 1890 ï the fifth annual Castle Howard regatta and sports 
were held on the Great Lake at the estate. The Reformatory Band was engaged 
to play during the afternoon.  

¶ Friday 26 December 1890 ï Christmastide at Welburn  passed in a quiet 
manner, the Castle Howard lake, being frozen, became the rendezvous of 
skating parties, who enjoyed themselves immensely, being able to replenish the 
ñinner manò at a tea and coffee tent supplied by Mr Moses of Ganthorpe. The 
Reformatory  Band, under the direction of Mr P. J. Richardson, played selections 
of appropriate music through the village, which was much appreciated by the 
inhabitants.  

¶ Wednesday 21 January 1891 ï the Christmas festivities did not finish at Castle 
Howard until Thursda y, having been held over owing to the severe weather. A 
large Christmas tree, standing fully 20 feet, whose branches were bowed down 
by the weight of the presents they bore, looked brilliant under the light shed by 
upwards of five hundred small candles that also studded its spreading boughs. 
The tree was without doubt a " thing of beauty," and ought to have been so, as 
its preparation had occupied several weeks, the work being under the personal 
superintendence of Lady Carlisle. The candles were lighted in the presence of 
the older school children, attending the various schools on the estate, to whom 
the sight afforded great gratification, materially increased when on their 
departure each lad and lass became the happy possessor of a useful article or 
amusing toy. Pleasant music was furnished during the evening by the 


